IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 78,410

THOMAS PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

٧.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

KENNETH D. DRIGGS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 304700

HARUN SHABAZZ Staff Attorney

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

а

On January 10, 1984, Thomas Provenzano appeared at the Orangs County courthouse wearing black combat boots, army fatigue pants, a long olive drab army coat, a red bandanna and carrying a knapsack. After being questioned by a bailiff about his knapsack, Mr. Provenzano left the courtroom and returned a few minutes later without it (R. 548). When his disorderly conduct Case was called, Mr. Provenzano began to approach the front of the courtroom but was stopped and told to wait until his attorney arrived (R. 549). Bailiff Dalton was then told by the judge to search Mr. Provenzano (R. 551). When Bailiff Dalton and Correctional Officer Parker approached Mr. Provenzano and began to search him, Mr. Provenzano pulled a pistol out of his pocket and shot Dalton (R. 552). Parker then want out of the courtroom, followed by Mr. Provenzano. More shots were fired; Parker was eventually wounded, and Bailiff Wilkerson was killed (R. 589-91). Mr. Provenzano was also wounded in the gunfire (R. 647).

Mr. Provenzano was hospitalized following the shooting. The hospital records discovered in the State Attorney's file included mental health observations of Mr. Provenzano made between January 10th and 12th. These observations included a diagnosis "chronic paranoid psychosis." Appendix A. Detailed handwritten notes stated "His rationalization of his violent act seems to be of delusional proportions." Appendix B. Further, the notations reflected that Mr. Provenzano did not believe he "did any thing wrong . . . because Jesus wanted it that way. He (Jesus) works through you." Appendix B.

Mr. Provenzano was charged with one count of first degree murder and two counts of attempted first degree murder. He was convicted by a jury on June 19, 1984. The defense at trial was insanity, and mental health professionals were called and testified about Mr. Provenzano's mental illness. However, the jury did not hear that the first mental health person to see Mr. Provenzano after the shooting found a "psychosis" and delusional thinking. The penalty phase before the jury was conducted on July 11, 1984, and the jury recommended a sentence of death by a seven to five (7-5) vote.

On July 18, 1984, Judge Shepard sentenced Mr. Provenzano to death on the first degree murder conviction and consecutive thirty year sentences for the attempted first degree murder convictions. Mr. Provenzano's convictions and sentences were affirmed by this Court, with two Justices specially concurring. Provenzano v. State, 497 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 1986).

a

а

а

A Rule 3.850 motion to vacate judgment and sentence was filed on April 6, 1989. This motion was filed after the State had refueed to provide Chapter 119 disclosure. The trial court denied relief without an evidentiary hearing on April 25, 1989. An appeal to this Court followed. This Court held that the state erred in failing to comply with Chapter 119 then ordered that Mr. Provenzano would have sixty days from dieclosure to file a new 3.850.

Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541, 549 (Fla. 1990).

On April 15, 1991, Mr. Provenzano filed a Supplemental Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, with Special Request €or Leave to Amend to Supplement (PC-S 1). The supplemental motion alleged that Mr. Provenzano had been denied an adversarial testing because exculpatory evidence (the hospital records and notations) was not presented to the jury. This failure to present this evidence to the jury undermined confidence in the outcome of the capital trial and sentencing. This evidence furthered Mr. Provenzano's contentions at trial that he was suffering from severe mental illness at the time of the homicide.

Mr. Provenzano personally filed a series of supplemental pro se motions with the trial court, each of which were consistent with post-conviction counsel's pleadings prepared on his behalf (PC-S 22; PC-S 41; PC-S 57; PC-S 60; PC-S 66; PC-S 68). These motions contained additional allegations for Rule 3.850 relief.

On June 24, 1991, the State filed a Motion to Strike Pro Se Pleadings filed by Mr. Provenzano (PC-S 73). On July 1, 1991, collateral counsel filed a Motion to Adopt Pro Se Pleadings of Thomas Provenzano (PC-S 91). On the same date Mr. Provenzano, through collateral counsel, filed a timely Motion to Disqualify the trial judge (PC-S 106). The motion was based on Mr. Provenzano's fear that the trial judge could not render a fair and impartial

ruling on his motions. On July 18, 1991, the State responded to the Motion to Disqualify (PC-S 106). On July 31, 1991 the circuit court denied Mr.

Provenzano'a motion to diequalify (PC-S 116). In this order, the circuit court gave notice that Mr. Provenzanw had thirty days to appeal (PC-S 120).

On August 5, 1991, the circuit court denied collateral counsel's Motion to Adopt Pro Se Pleadings of Thomas Provenzano and struck those pro se pleadings (PC-S 122). Mr. Provenzano filed a notice of appeal regarding the denial of the motion to disqualify on August 7, 1991 (PC-S 126). Counsel had not yet received the second order striking the pro Se pleadings. On August 8, 1991, the trial court denied Mr. Provenzano'e eupplemental post-conviction motion without an evidentiary hearing (PC-S 128). A notice of appeal from the denial of the Supplemental Motion to Vacate was filed on August 19, 1991 (PC-S 157).

A notice of appeal from the order striking Mr. Provenzano's pro Se pleadings was aleo filed on August 19, 1991 (PC-S. 161).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Provenzano was denied an adverearial testing when material and exculpatory evidence was withheld from Mr. Provenzano's jury, violating constitutional guarantees and Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. As a result, important material was not presented to the trial jury. Confidence in the outcome of the trial and the 3.850 process is undermined to the extent that relief must be granted.
- 11. Mr. Provenzano from the beginning of this cause had filed pro se supplementary pleadings which did not conflict with those filed by counsel. The trial court denied Mr. Provenzano's due process rights and abused its sound discretion when it granted a state motion to strike those pleadings and deny Mr. Provenzano full participation in his defense, and when it refused to address the merits of Mr. Provenzano's claims.
- III. Mr. Provenzano experienced a reasonable fear based on a series of events that the trial court could not be fair and impartial in handling his amended 3.850 claims and filed a timely motion to diequalify. The trial court erred in denying his legally sufficient motion.

ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I

THE STATE WITHHELD MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF THOMAS PROVENZANO UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, AND THE DISCOVERY PROVTSTONS OF THE FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE. MOREOVER BECAUSE TEE JURY DID NOT KNOW OF THIS IMPORTANT EVIDENCE CONTAINED IN THE STATE'S POSSESSION AN ADVERSARIAL TESTING DID NOT OCCUR. EITHER THE PROSECUTOR VIOLATED BRADY OR DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE. AS A RESULT CONFIDENCE IS UNDERMINED IN THE OUTCOME AND 3.850 RELIEF MUST BE GRANTED.

A criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial. As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

a fair trial is one which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washinaton, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). In order to insure that an adversarial testing, and hence a fair trial, occurs, certain obligations are imposed upon both the prosecutor and defense counsel. The prosecutor is required to disclose to the defense evidence "that is both favorable to the accused and 'material either to guilt or punishment.'" United States v.

Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 674 (1985), quoting Bradv v. Maryland, 373 W.S. 83, 87 (1963). Defense counsel is obligated "to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process."

Strickland, supra.

Here, Mr. Provenzano was denied a reliable adversarial tenting. The jury never heard all the available compelling evidence that Mr. Provenzano was severely mentally ill at the time of the homicide. Evidence in the State's possession was not heard by the jury. This evidence was obviously exculpatory as to Mr. Provenzano because it indicated the murder was committed while he was severely mentally ill. In order "to ensure that a miscarriage of justice [did] not occur," <u>Baqley</u>, 473 U.S. at 675, it was essential for the jury to hear this evidence.

If the undisclosed evidence is material and its suppression undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial, the defendant has been deprived of a fair trial and relief is warranted. Under this standard Mr. Provenzano is

entitled to relief. The withholding of evidence of Mr. Provenzano's mental health deprived the jury of information which should have been provided to a mental health professional for evaluation purposes. The evidence withheld undermines confidence as to both the guilt and penalty phase because the suppressed evidence would have supported the defense at both phases of the trial.

In the State Attorney's file, were hospital records of Mr. Provenzano. These records included a psychiatric consultation by Dr. Joy Abraham on January 10, 1984. At that time, the day of the homicide, she diagnosed Mr. Provenzano as having a "chronic paranoid psychoeie" (PC-S 5). There were also detailed handwritten notes regarding Mr. Provenzano's mental history and condition on January 10, 1984, the day of the shooting. Dr. Abraham opined "His [Provenzano's] arrest by the police in August of 1983 and later the charges against him with misdemeanor might have lead to the development of his paranoid deluaiona about the police and finally he acted violently upon his perceived persecutors" (PC-S 5-6).

The jury needed to hear this evidence in determining whether the defense had sufficiently raised an insanity defense. It was also imperative for the jury to hear this evidence in the penalty phase. Whether due to the prosecutor's failure to disclose or the defense's unreasonable failure to present this evidence, an adversarial testing did not occur in violation of the sixth amendment and confidence is undermined in the outcome. Counsel can have no valid reason for not presenting this evidence to the jury. At the very least these medical reports should have been introduced verbatim at the penalty phase proceeding where hearsay was admissible. There can be no legitimate reason for the jury not to know Dr. Abraham's findings on January 10, 1984.

а

The circuit court denied relief on this claim because it believed that defense counsel should have been aware of Dr. Joy Abraham's consultation and handwritten notes. However, there is no evidence that Mr. Provenzano's defense counsel was provided with either the consultation report ("DIAGNOSIS:

Chronic paranoid psychosis" Appendix A) or Dr. Abraham's handwritten notes dated January 12, 1984 ("His rationalization of his violent act seems to be of delusional proportions" Appendix B). These materials were in the State Attorney'e files disclosed pursuant to Chapter 119. These documents were not contained in the record, and there is absolutely no evidence that the State disclosed these items to Mr. Provenzano's trial counsel. Contrary to the circuit court's ruling, the files and records do not conclusively establish that Mr. Provenzano'a trial counsel had copies of Dr. Abraham's consultation report and handwritten notes (Appendix A and B).

Aleo not dieclosed by the State were jail records. Theae jail records covered the time of Mr. Provenzano's pretrial incarceration and reflected his behavior in jail (PC-s7-9). As such they were very relevant to the mental health evaluations. Dr. Wilder's "notes on Provenzano" which were contained in the State's Attorney file and also not disclosed to the defense referred to Mr. Provenzano's behavior in jail. Dr. wilder noted "officers had afforded him the privacy that security would permit" (PC-s 6). In fact the jail records contain much more information. They reflect, consistent with Drs. Pollack and Lyons' conclusions that following the January 10 explosion, Mr. Provenzano was very calm and tranquil, if not docile. It would have supported their testimony that there was a psychotic break on January 10, 1984.

Besides corroborating the defense experts, these jail records constitute mitigation evidence under Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1 (1986). The jury's failure to know of these records content denied Mr. Provenzano an adversarial testing under the sixth amendment. Either Brady was violated or counsel unreasonably failed to investigate and present. However, the bottom line is confidence is undermined in the outcome because the jury did not know, and defense mental health experts were denied access to this important and valuable information.

The jail records reflect that in the month of January of 5984 reports were submitted almost daily on Mr. Provenzano. These reports reflect Mr. Provenzano'e attitude and adjustment to confinement. These reports reflect

Mr. Provenzano's attitude and adjustment as follows: January 13th -- "good,"

14th -- "fair," "quiet," 15th -- "good," 16th -- "good," 17th -- "good,"

18th -- "good," 19th -- "good," "reading the Bible, 20th -- "good," 22nd -- "good" "quiet," 23rd -- "good," 24th -- "good," 25th -- "good" "fair," 26th -- "good," 27th -- "fair" "good," 28th -- "fair," 30th -- "good," and 31st -- "good" (PC-S 7).

For the month of February 1984, these records were also kept concerning Mr. Provenzano and reflect: February 1st -- "fair" "very quiet" "good," 2nd -- "good" "doing Bible study," 3rd -- "good," 4th -- "good," 6th -- "good" "quiet," 7th -- "good," 9th -- "good" "fair," 10th -- "good" "quiet," 11th -- "fair" "good," 13th -- "good" "okay," 14th -- "good," 16th -- "good," 17th -- "good" "quiet," 18th -- "good," 19th -- "good" "quiet," 20th -- "good," 21st -- "good," 22nd -- "good," 23rd -- "good," 24th -- "good," 25th -- "good," 26th -- "fair," 27th -- "fair," 28th -- "good," and 29th -- "good" (Pc-S 8).

a

For the month of March 1984, these records were also kept concerning Mr.

Provenzano and reflect: March 2nd -- "good," 3rd -- "fair" "acceptable,"

4th -- "good," 5th -- "fair," 8th -- "good," 9th -- "good," 10th -- "fair,"

11th -- "good," 12th -- "fair" "cleaning cell," 13th -- "good," 14th -- "fair"

"good," 15th -- "good" "very quiet," 16th -- "good," 17th -- "fair" "good"

"quiet," 18th -- "good" "quiet," 19th -- "good," 20th -- "good" "quiet"

"satisfactory," 21st -- "good," 22nd -- "good," 23rd -- "good" "quiet," 24th -- "good," 25th -- "good," 26th -- "good" "good behavior cooperative," 28th -- "fair" "good," 31st -- "good" (PC-s 8).

These records were also kept for the month of April 1984 concerning Mr.

Provenzano. The April records reflect: April 1st -- "good" "fair" "quiet,"

2nd -- "good" "excellent," 3rd -- "good" "very quiet" "satisfactory," 4th -
"good" "very quiet" "satisfactory, for 5th -- "good, 6th -- "fair" "seems

depressed, 7th -- "good, 8th -- "good" "quiet, 9th -- "fair" "good, 10th -
"good, 11th -- "good, quiet" "satisfactory, 12th -- "good, 14th -
"good, 15th -- "good, 16th -- "poor" "yelling and cussing about story in

newspaper, 17th -- "good, 1ath -- "good, 20th -- "fair" "good, 21st --

"ok" "good," 22nd -- "good," 23rd -- "good," 25th --- "good" "quiet"

"satisfactory," 26th -- "good," 27th -- "good," 28th -- "good," and 29th -
"good" (PC-S 8-9).

These records were also kept for the month of May 1984 concerning Mr.

Provenzano. The May records reflect: May 1st -- "good," 3rd -- "good"

"satisfactory," 4th -- "good," 5th -- "good," 6th -- "good," 7th -- "good,"

8th -- "good," 9th -- "good" ok" "quiet," 10th -- "good," 13th -- "good"

14th -- "good," 15th -- satisfactory," 16th -- "good," 19th -- "good," 20th -- "good" "quiet," 21st -- "good," 23rd -- "good," 24th -- '*good" "quiet," 25th -- "fair" "good," 26th -- "good," 29th -- "good," 30th -- "good," and 31st

"good" "fair" "quiet" (PC-S 9).

These records were also kept for the beginning of the month of June 1984 concerning Mr. Provenzano. The June records reflect: June let -- "good," 2nd -- "good" "quiet," 4th -- "good," 6th -- "good," 7th -- "good," 8th -- "good," 9th -- "good," and 10th -- "good" (Pc-s 9).

The State definitely had facts which it did not disclose, and the truth of the matter did not come out at trial because those facts were omitted and/or misrepresented. This information should have been provided to trial counsel. However to the extent that this Court holds that there was no duty to disclose, then counsel had a duty to investigate, learn, prepare, and present this evidence to the jury.' His failure to do so was ineffective assistance. Blanco v. Singletary, 943 F.2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991).

The circuit court denied relief on this claim saying that the "jail records would have been equally accessible to the defense" (PC-S 133). However, the files and records do not conclusively establish this. Accordingly, an evidentiary hearing is required in order to determine whether the jail would have provided defense counsel these records and whether defense counsel was ineffective in not obtaining these records,

^{&#}x27;This claim could not have been presented before because the State refused to comply with Chapter 119. As a result this evidence could not be discovered by collateral counsel until this Court ordered disclosure.

The circuit court also found the jail records reflecting a daily log of Mr. Provenzano's behavior within his cell were inconsistent with the theory of the defense — on January 10, 1984, Mr. Provenzano had a psychotic break (PC-S 134). The files and records do not support the circuit court's finding that counsel would have tactically chosen not to present this evidence. Courte are not permitted to make up possible strategies which defense counsel did not testify he possessed. Harris v. Reed, 894 F.2d 871, 878 (7th Cir. 1990) ("Just as a reviewing court should not second guess the strategic decisions of counsel with the benefit of hindsight, it should also not construct strategic defenses which counsel does not offer"). An evidentiary hearing is required.

Florida law expressly <u>mandates</u> disclosure of the statements of "any person," Rule 3.220(a)(1)(ii), who is "known to the prosecutor to have information which <u>may be relevant</u> to the offense charge, and to <u>any defense</u> with respect thereto," Rule 3.220(a)(1)(x) (emphasis added), including "Reports or statements of experts made in connection with the particular case, including results of physical or mental examinations and of ecientific testa, experiments or comparisons."

It is clear from the facts alleged that the State's failure to fully disclose the information discussed above was a substantial violation of Mr. Provenzano's right to discovery. Rule 3.220 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides in pertinent part:

(a) Prosecutor's Obligation.

- (1) After the filing of the indictment or information, within fifteen days after written demand by the defendant, the prosecutur shall disclose to defense counsel and permit him to inspect, copy, test and photograph, the following information and material within the State's possession or control:
- (i) The names and addresses of all persona known to the prosecutor to have information which may be relevant to the offense charged, and to any defense with respect thereto.

* * *

(ii) The statement of any person whose name is furnished in compliance with [paragraph i]. The term "statement" as used herein means a written [adopted or approved] Statement or a substantially verbatim recital of an oral statement [made to a state agent or officer] The court shall prohibit the State from introducing in evidence the material not disclosed, so as to secure and maintain fairness in the just determination of the cause.

* * *

(2) As soon as practicable after the filing of the indictment or information the prosecutor shall disclose to the defense counsel any material information within the State's possession or control which tends to neaate the quilt of the accused as to the offense charged.

Failure to honor Rule 3.220 <u>requires a reversal</u> unlese the State can <u>prove</u> the error is harmless. <u>Roman v. State</u>, 528 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Here, names of witnesses and reports of experts material to the defendant's case were undisclosed. Certainly the non-disclosure cannot be found to be harmless. It in all probability affected the result, and confidence in the outcome and fairness of Mr. Provenzano's trial is therefore undermined.

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