#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



DEC 19 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY Chief Deputy Clerk

THOMAS HARRISON PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

v.

4

CASE NO. 78,410

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Point 1</u>: Provenzano's allegations are refuted by the record. The record as a whole demonstrates that the defense either had or could have obtained with due diligence the allegedly withheld materials. Even if this is the type of evidence contemplated for disclosure under *Brady*, **Provenzano** has **failed to** demonstrate materiality. Provenzano's alternative allegations that counsel was ineffective are procedurally barred, and alternatively without merit. Relief is not warranted and summary denial was appropriate.

Point 2: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in striking **Provenzano's** pro se pleadings, as there is no absolute right to hybrid representation by counsel and one's self. Likewise, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying counsel's motion to adopt the pro se pleadings, where it was not filed until after the state had filed its response, no compelling reasons for doing so were given, and counsel had in fact expressed his belief that Provenzano is incompetent.

<u>Point 3</u>: Provenzano never sought a writ of prohibition against Judge **Shepard**, so he should **be** estopped from complaining on appeal. that Judge Shepard erred in denying the motion to disqualify, and the claim should be found waived. In any event, the trial court correctly found that the motion was legally **insufficient**,

- 4 -

#### POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE STATE DID NOT WITHHOLD MATERIAL, EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE.

Provenzano claims that the state withheld material **exculpatory** evidence, **in** violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, *373* U.S. **83** (1963). To establish a *Brady* violation, a defendant must establish the following:

(1) that the Government possessed evidence favorable to the defendant (including impeachment evidence); (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, а reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Hegwood v. State, 575 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1991), quoting, United States v. Meros, 866 F.2d 1304, 1308 (11th Cir. 1989). There is no Brady violation where the allegedly exculpatory evidence is equally accessible to the defense and prosecution. Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). The state need not actively **assist** the defense in investigating a case. Hegwood, supra, citing, Hansbrough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987).

The test for measuring the effect of the failure to disclose exculpatory evidence, regardless of whether such failure constitutes a discovery violation, is whether there is a reasonable probability that "had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Duest v. Dugger, 555* So.2d 849, 851 (Fla. 1990),

quoting United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985).<sup>3</sup> See also, Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988). The undisclosed information must be viewed in the context of the entire record. Thompson v. State, 553 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1989), citing, United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 112 (1976). If upon consideration of the record as a whole, the omitted evidence creates a reasonable doubt not otherwise existing, the evidence is material and constitutional error has been committed. Kelley v. State, 486 So.2d 578 (1986). "The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed evidence might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." *Id.*, quoting, Agurs, 427 U.S. at 1.09-110.

Provenzano first alleges that there were hospital records State Attorney's file, including a psychiatric the in consultation by Dr. Joy Abraham on January 10, 1984. Provenzano contends that it was imperative for the jury to hear this in the penalty phase, and whether due to evidence the prosecutor's failure to disclose or the defense's unreasonable failure to present this evidence, an adversarial testing did not occur in violation of the sixth amendment and confidence is undermined in the outcome. Provenzano states that the trial court denied relief on this claim because "it believed that defense counsel should have been aware of Dr. Joy Abraham's consultation and handwritten notes" (IB 5). Actually, the trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The *Duest* court stated that it did not intend to create a new standard of review for discovery violations in *Roman* v. *State*, *528* So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1988), which is the standard cited by Provenzano (IB 10).

court found that the record demonstrates that the defense was well aware of Dr. Abraham's report as well as all of Provenzano's medical records concerning **his** stay at the Orlando Regional Medical Center following the shootings in the instant case, and that these records were given to the mental health experts (PC 131). The record supports this finding.

On January 12, 1984, defense counsel filed a "Motion for Controlled Access to Defendant's Medical Records", stating that Dr. Abraham had interviewed Provenzano, and asking the court to seal the records to all persons other than the defendant, his attorneys, and any medical professionals appointed to assist the The motion was granted January 16, 1984 (R defense (**R** 2704). In his deposition, Dr. Pollack testified that he had the 2724).medical records from Orlando Regional Medical Center, and these included a consultation report by Dr. Abraham (R 2619). Dr. Lyons testified at trial that he had the progressive Reports from Orlando Regional Medical Center covering January 10 through 13, In addition, at his deposition, when Dr. Lyons 1984 (R 1441). was asked if he had read Dr. Mara's report, he asked if that was the doctor who had seen Provenzano when he was in the hospital (R 2693). Since it is clear the defendant had this evidence, there was no Brady violation. Hegwood, supra.

The trial court was also correct in finding Provenzano's alternative allegation that counsel was ineffective procedurally barred, as the fact that Provenzano was examined by Dr. Abraham is readily apparent from the record, and any claims pertaining to this could and should have been raised in his first motion for post conviction relief (PC 132). Where counsel is attacked in first motion, additional claims in second or third motions are procedurally barred. *Tafero v. State*, **561 So.2d** 557 (Fla. 1990). In any event, Provenzano has neither alleged nor demonstrated prejudice, or that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland v.* Washington, **466** U.S. 668 (1984). This court has already found that counsel was not ineffective for failing to present additional psychiatric testimony. *Provenzano v. Dugger*, **561 So.2d 541, 546** (Fla. 1990). As the trial court found, a review of Dr. Abraham's report demonstrates that her findings were consistent with those of the experts who testified, and contained nothing additional regarding insanity (IB Appendix A).<sup>4</sup>

Provenzano next alleges that the state did not disclose jail records covering the time of his pretrial incarceration which reflected his behavior in jail, and as such they were to the mental health evaluations, relevant and reflect. consistent with Drs. Pollack's and Lyons' testimony that Provenzano was calm and tranquil, which would have supported their testimony that there was a psychotic break on January 10, 1984. The trial court correctly found that Provenzano's jail records would have been equally accessible to the defense, so there is no Brady violation (PC 133). Defense counsel moved pretrial for production of jail records concerning visitor attendance records, and the motion was granted (R 2963-64, 2971).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This report was before the trial court in the appendix to the state's response. See (PC 89),

Further, Dr. Pollack testified that he had spoken informally with several of the jail officials responsible for Provenzano's custodial treatment (R 1555).

Alternatively, even if this is the **type** of evidence contemplated for disclosure under *Brady*, there is no reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Hegwood, supra; Duest, supra*. It must be remembered that Provenzano's whole theory of insanity was based on delusions of persecution from law enforcement (R 1475, 1491, 2681, 2642-43, 1535), that anybody in uniform was part of the system, and that Provenzano "just went" when a uniformed individual invaded his space (R 1535, 2643). It certainly would not have benefitted this theory to demonstrate that Provenzano had adjusted to an environment controlled by uniformed law enforcement individuals.

This is apparent from a review of Dr. Pollack's cross-The prosecutar, no doubt in an attempt to examination. demonstrate that Provenzano had not behaved bizarrely in jail, asked Dr. Pollack if he had spoken with jail officials and if they had indicated Provenzano had been acting in a bizarre ok abnormal way (R 1555). Dr. Pollack responded that he had spoken informally with several officials, and they mentioned that Provenzano's behavior inconsistent, with was somewhat а significant amount of paranoia present (R 1555). The prosecutor immediately left that topic, and it certainly would not have behooved the defense to impeach its own witness with evidence contrary to its theory, i.e., that Provenzano was adjusting well to uniformed individuals. The defense theory is also apparent

- 9 -

from the cross examination of the state's experts, Dr. Kirkland Defense counsel pointed out to both that and Dr. Gutman. Provenzano only exhibits hostility and anxiety when he comes in contact with courthouse personnel, law enforcement personnel, and uniformed personnel ( R 1702, 1772). Thus, contrary to Provenzano's allegations that the records would have supported his expert's testimony, they would in fact have been inconsistent with it. Provenzano contends that a hearing is required because courts are not permitted to make up possible strategies which defense counsel did not testify he possessed, but it is clear that Provenzano's defense was insanity, and the trial court's finding is simply a ruling that in light of this, materiality could not be demonstrated.

Again, the trial court correctly found Provenzano's alternative claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate procedurally barred, as the jail records could have been obtained with due diligence from a source other than the State Attorney's file (PC 134), and such claim could and should have been presented in Provenzano's first motion for post conviction relief. *Tafero, supra.* **Even** if the claim is cognizable, neither deficient performance nor prejudice has been or can be demonstrated, as the trial court found (PC 134), for as stated, such records would have served only to impeach the theory of defense. Thus, neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

Provenzano also alleges that Dr. Wilder's "notes on Provenzano" which were contained in the State Attorney's file and not disclosed to the defense referred to Provenzano's behavior in

jail, and Dr. Wilder noted "officers had afforded him the privacy that security would permit". Dr. Wilder testified at trial that he was taking notes while he was interviewing Provenzano, and in fact used those notes as he was testifying, so if defense counsel did not have a copy of them he could have objected or simply asked to see them (R 1809). The trial court correctly found that since this is a matter of record, it could have been raised on direct appeal if there had been an objection, and is procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings (PC 134-35). See, Lambrix v. State, 559 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1990); Kelley v. State, 569 So.2d 754 (1990) (claims based on information contained in original record case must be raised on direct appeal). Also, at the of competency proceeding, Dr. Wilder testified that Provenzano assumed that certain jail personnel unnecessarily invaded his privacy.<sup>5</sup> This explains why officers had afforded Provenzano the privacy that security would permit, and if defense counsel felt such information was relevant he could have presented it. Finally, since Provenzano did not allege how this could have possibly affected the outcome, the trial court correctly found that the claim is legally insufficient (PC 135). Hegwood, supra.

In sum, Provenzano's allegations are refuted by the record. The record as a whole demonstrates that the defense either had or could have obtained with due diligence the allegedly withheld materials. Even if this is the type of evidence contemplated for disclosure under *Brady*, Provenzano has failed to demonstrate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This was also contained in the appendix before the trial court. See (PC 90).

materiality. Provenzano's alternative allegations that counsel was ineffective are procedurally barred, and alternatively without merit. Relief is not warranted and summary denial was appropriate.

#### POINT 2

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN STRIKING PROVENZANO'S PRO SE PLEADINGS.

Provenzano contends that the trial court erred in striking his pro se pleadings<sup>5</sup> and in denying counsel's motion to adopt those pleadings. The trial court found that Provenzano failed to show any compelling reasons to justify hybrid representation, and in the absence of compelling reasons the orderly progress of judicial proceedings and the concomitant administration of justice would not be served by allowing co-representation by a defendant who is already adequately represented by counsel (PC 122-24). Provenzano has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in reaching this conclusion. See e.g., Tucker v. State, 562 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(when an accused is represented by counsel, affording him the privilege of addressing the court or jury in person is a matter for the sound discretion of the trial court).

This court has determined that Article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution does not embody the right to representation by counsel and one's self. *State v.* Tuit, **387** So.2d **338** (Fla. 1980). As the First District has recognized:

> The defendant had no right to act as co-counsel with his attorney. **Goods** v. State, **365** So.2d 381 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, **441** U.S. 967, 99 S.Ct. 2419, 60 L.Ed.2d 1074 (1979), including the right to file separate motions and pleadings, Sheppard v. State, 391 So.2d 346 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). There is no reason why our system must tolerate dual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> There is a somewhat similar issue pending before this court in *Salser v. State*, Case No. 78,439.

pleadings filed by both the defendant's attorneys and the defendant himself. Unless counsel moves to ''adopt" his client's pleadings or motions, e.g. *Perry v. State*, **436** So.2d 426 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), such filings should be treated as nullities.

Smith v. State, 444 So.2d 542, 547 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). See also, Whitfield v. State, 517 So.2d 23 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Based on this reasoning, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to rule on Provenzano'spro se pleadings.

Further, at the time the state's response was filed, counsel had not moved to adopt Provenzano's pleadings, and again, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to prolong these proceedings to permit him to do so. Counsel's only reason for moving to adopt the "substantial number of pro se motions, pleadings and other communications" was that Provenzano "has taken an active interest in his case" (R 91). Appellee does not dispute the fact that most death-sentenced inmates take an active interest in their cases, but this fact, standing alone, does not justify the filing of dual pleadings, and serves no other reason than to further delay the proceedings. Appellee would also point out that it was counsel who signed the verification on the supplemental motion, wherein he expressed his belief that Provenzano is incompetent, which is somewhat inconsistent with adopting pleadings filed by Provenzano (R 40). Provenzano states this is not a **case** where he does not wish to be represented by counsel, he has not asked to act as co-counsel, it is not a case where he is not getting along with counsel, and he is not asking to physically appear and argue. Appellee submits that in the absence of any compelling allegations as to exactly

what Provenzano is trying to accomplish, the filing of dual pleadings should not be tolerated.

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